#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST WHITFIELD,

Appellant,

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ernest Whitfield, Appellant, was indicted by a Sarasota County grand jury on July 7, 1995, for first degree murder in the stabbing death of Claretha Y. Reynolds (R1829-30). He was later charged by information on July 25, 1995 with Armed Burglary of the dwelling belonging to Claretha Reynolds (R1844-5). Subsequently, amended two-count informations were filed August 16, 1995 and September 1. 1995 adding a count of sexual battery with a deadly weapon to the burglary count (R1876-8, 1893-5). The State's motion for consolidation of the related offenses for trial was granted over Appellant's objection (R87-101, 1889-90).

At a hearing held August 4, 1995, Appellant's handwritten note requesting a speedy trial was considered (R10-1, 1856). Defense counsel acknowledged that there was conflict between himself and his client over whether a demand for speedy trial should be filed (R11-4). Appellant personally spoke to the trial judge and requested that his desire for a speedy trial be honored (R14-7). Defense counsel stated that he would file a demand for speedy trial if the State would permit him to take depositions during the running of the sixty day period (R17-8). The State agreed to allow depositions and the court stated that all requests for discovery would be accommodated (R18). The written demand for speedy trial was filed the same day (R1861).

At the next hearing, August 11, 1995, defense counsel told the court that it might be impossible for him to prepare for trial within the sixty day period and he might ask to withdraw

the demand for speedy trial (R29-30). The judge replied that counsel did not have this option; since his client wanted a speedy trial, counsel would have to "get into high speed" (R30-1). The judge set the trial date for September 18, thirty-seven days from the date of the hearing (R32-3).

Subsequently, at a hearing held September 7, 1995, defense counsel moved for a continuance and asserted that he would waive speedy trial (R50-1, 1900-01). The court admonished counsel that Appellant had demanded a speedy trial, which counsel could not waive without his client's consent (R51-2). He suggested that counsel wanted the court to continue the case against Appellant's wishes; so that Appellant could later move for discharge when the speedy trial time period ran (R53). Counsel replied that he simply needed to point out that he was not prepared the way he should be to try a capital case because of the time limitations (R53). The court inquired of Appellant personally if he was waiving adequate representation at trial in order to have a speedy trial (R54). Appellant repeated his desire for a speedy trial (R54-5). The judge ruled:

It's his day in court, it's his trial, it's his right to a speedy trial, if he wants it he's going to get it.

(R55). It was also put on the record that the State offered a plea bargain of two consecutive life sentences which Appellant rejected (R57-9).

At a pretrial hearing held September 15, 1995, Appellant's motion to suppress statements was heard (R69-85). After hearing

testimony, the prosecutor and defense counsel agreed as to which statements should be suppressed (R84). The court granted the motion per the stipulation of the counsel (R85).

The prosecutor next asked that Appellant be arraigned on the Second Amended Information charging him with sexual battery and armed burglary (R85). A plea of not guilty was entered (R87). The prosecutor then moved to consolidate the charges in the information with the Indictment for trial (R87-8, 1889-90). Defense counsel objected to consolidation and pointed out that Appellant had demanded a speedy trial only on the first-degree murder charged by the indictment (R88-90, 100). Accordingly, counsel had expended all of his efforts in preparing both quilt and penalty phase for the capital offense (R90-1). Moreover, no co-counsel had been appointed to assist with preparation (R91). While counsel was "arguably prepared" to try the murder charge, he was totally unprepared to try the sexual battery count (R92-He conceded that under ordinary circumstances judicial economy would be sufficient reason to consolidate the charges (R97). However, Appellant would be severely prejudiced if he were forced to go to trial on all charges with unprepared counsel, so judicial economy should yield to fairness (R97).

The prosecutor replied that he would be prejudiced if he could not use a sexual battery conviction as an aggravating circumstance in the penalty phase (R98-9). The State further offered to agree to a continuance if the demand for speedy trial

was withdrawn (R99). The court granted the motion to consolidate (R101).

Trial commenced on September 18, 1995 before Circuit Judge Harry Rapkin (R150). At the start of the second day of jury selection proceedings, Appellant informed the court that he was having a conflict with his attorneys (R470-5). They were telling him that they were not adequately prepared for trial and that he was going to get a death sentence (R471-2). He further complained that they had not done some tests which he felt were important to his defense (R473-4). He asked the court to discharge them (R474, 482, 486, 489-90).

After inquiry of counsel, the court ruled that he would not appoint new counsel (~486, 493-4). Appellant would have to either accept his counsel or represent himself (R486, 496, 584). When jury selection proceedings resumed, Whitfield turned his back to the jury panel and did not communicate with counsel (R521-3). During the lunch recess, Appellant was examined for competency to proceed and found competent (R582-3, 589-91, 623-5).

Upon further inquiry by the court, Appellant reiterated his complaints about counsel and counsel responded (R594-603). The court again ruled that other counsel would not be appointed (R604, 611). Appellant said that he would represent himself (R612). The court admonished him of the dangers of self-representation and conducted a Faretta inquiry (R612-9). The court ruled that Whitfield was not competent to represent himself although he was competent to communicate with counsel (R619).

Appellant then asked to be taken back to his cell and have the trial proceed without his presence (R619-21). The judge initially ruled that Whitfield should remain and allowed him to turn his back to the proceedings (R622). However, upon defense counsel's request that Appellant be removed because "the jurors looking at Mr. Whitfield in this position is more prejudicial than him not being here at all", the judge ordered Appellant taken back to the jail ( $\sim$ 627). The jury was instructed that his absence was voluntary (R629).

Soon thereafter, defense counsel exercised five peremptory strikes (~652-3). Later in the afternoon, four more defense peremptories were exercised (R706, 709-12). The jury was sworn (R714).

The next morning, Judge Rapkin went to the jail and personally requested Whitfield to attend his trial (R736). Saying "there is nothing good going to come out of it", Whitfield chose to remain at the jail (R737). The court advised him that he could change his mind and be brought to the courtroom at any time (R737). After opening statements, the State presented two witnesses before the lunch break (R747-798, 809). Appellant was present in the courtroom when the afternoon proceedings began (R817).

The State proffered testimony about a confrontation between Appellant and the victims which took place at Claretha Reynolds' house about two weeks prior to the rape and stabbing (R801-6). Whitfield had come asking for money from Claretha Reynolds, Mae

Brooks and Estella Pierre on the day that they received their welfare checks (R802-4). None of them would give him any so Appellant tried to snatch Pierre's purse (R804). The incident ended with Reynolds grabbing Whitfield in a headlock and forcibly ejecting him from her residence (R805). Whitfield said as he left, "I'm going to kill all three of you all, make sure you all don't have no more fun" (R805-6). Over defense counsel's objection, the court ruled that testimony about this prior event was admissible because it was relevant to premeditation (R807).

At the close of the state's case, Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (R1127). The renewed motion for judgment of acquittal after the defense case was also denied (R1267).

At the jury instruction conference, Appellant again complained about his counsel (R1270-5). Appellant stated that he would prepare a list of the grounds why he believed counsel's performance was deficient and present it to the court following the weekend recess (R1271-2). The court replied that Appellant could "bring up whatever list you want on Monday morning" and stated that closing arguments would take place at that time (R1274-5).

On Monday morning, Whitfield refused to come to court (R1291). The judge went to the jail and admonished Appellant that closing arguments would take place in his absence if he chose not to attend court (R1294-6). Appellant stood mute during this jail hearing (R1296-7). The jury was told that Whitfield

had chosen not to be present and that no inference should be drawn from his absence (R1305-6). After closing arguments, the judge told defense counsel that Whitfield was planning to give a press conference at the jail (R1410). The judge ordered press access to Appellant restricted until after the jury had been instructed and defense counsel given a chance to dissuade Appellant (R1412).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all counts (R1447, 2033-4). The jury was permitted to separate for two days before the penalty proceedings would commence (R1448, 1450-1).

The next day, Appellant was present in court for the penalty phase charge conference (R1454-1507). Defense counsel noted that Whitfield had conducted a press conference the previous day and expressed dissatisfaction with his counsel (R1454-5). Appellant complained that the jury had been selected in his absence and that ten women were chosen for the jury panel (R1455). Appellant argued with the judge as to whether his request for self-representation was unequivocal (R1456-7). The judge told Appellant that the Supreme Court of Florida would be reviewing his case (R1457-8). He asked Appellant whether he wanted his current counsel to represent him at the penalty phase (R1458-60). When Appellant remained mute, the court said, "I want the Supreme Court to hear what he has to say" (R1460). The court ruled that defense counsel would represent Appellant during the penalty phase (R1461).

Defense counsel's request that the sentences be deleted from the documents proving Appellant's prior violent felony convictions was denied by the court (R1505). During his penalty phase opening statement, the prosecutor said that Appellant had told the victims in his prior aggravated battery convictions that he would kill them if the incidents were reported to the police (R1529). Defense counsel moved for a mistrial because the threats were unrelated to the crimes for which Appellant was convicted (R1529). The court ruled that the threats were "part of the <u>res\_qestae</u>" (R1529-30).

During the prosecutor's closing argument, defense counsel objected when the prosecutor asked the jury to "consider" themselves in the role of the victim (R1662). The court overruled the objection (R1662).

After the jury had retired for deliberations, a question was returned signed by six of the jurors (R1701-2, 2041). It asked, "Does life in prison without parole really mean 'no parole' under any circumstances. He will never be allowed back into society again?" (R2041). The judge declined Appellant's request to answer the question "yes" because "the legislature may change the law next week" (R1703, 1705). He agreed to reread the portion of the standard jury instructions dealing with penalty to the jury (R1708-9). The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of seven-to-five (R1709, 2042).

The court heard sentencing arguments at a hearing held October 13, 1995 (R1723-97). The prosecutor urged the judge to

reject Appellant's proposed statutory mitigating circumstances because they "really were not even proved beyond clear and convincing evidence" (R1747, 1749-50, 1756). On October 20, 1995, sentence was imposed (R1799-1803). On the armed burglary and sexual battery with a deadly weapon convictions, concurrent sentences of life were imposed (R1801, 2106-8, 2121-4). With regard to the first degree murder count, the court found three aggravating factors: a) prior violent felony, b) committed in the course of an enumerated felony, and c) especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (R1802, 2109-11, see Appendix). The court found that none of the statutory mitigating circumstances were applicable (R1802, 2111-2, see Appendix). The court did find and weigh some nonstatutory mitigating factors, including impoverished background, crack cocaine addiction, and a childhood scarred by a rejecting father and an alcoholic mother (R1802, 2112-3, see Appendix). The sentencing judge concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation and imposed a sentence of death (R1802, 2113-4, 2118-20).

Appellant's notice of appeal was timely filed on October 24, 1995 (R2140). The Public Defenders of the 12th and 10th Judicial Circuits were appointed to represent Appellant on appeal (R2142). Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3 (b) (1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a) (1) (A) (i) .

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A) STATE'S EVIDENCE.

On June 19, 1995, shortly after 6:30 a.m., City of Sarasota police responded to a call at 2116 Dixie Avenue (R765-6). Inside the residence, patrol officer Steven Shoemaker found a heavyset black woman who had been stabbed (R770-1). She was lying face-up on the floor (R770-1). Although the officer noted some shallow breathing, the stabbing victim was not able to carry on a conversation (R771). The officer performed CPR on the victim until paramedics arrived three or four minutes later (R772-3). Their efforts were unsuccessful; and the victim expired at the scene (R774, 793).

Willie Mae Brooks testified at trial that she and her oneyear-old child had been residing with the stabbing victim,

Claretha Reynolds, and her children for about a month before the
incident (R819-20). Appellant, Ernest Whitfield, was known to
both women (R820-6). Whitfield had been living with the witness's sister, Estella Brooks Pierre, but the relationship had broken
up (R820-1).

Around four o'clock in the morning on June 19, Brooks was awakened by Whitfield speaking to her from outside her bedroom window at the Dixie Avenue residence (R827-8). Whitfield was looking for Estella and wanted to talk to Brooks (R831, 850-1). He asked her to let him in, but she refused (R830). She went to Claretha Reynolds bedroom, woke her up, and told her that Whit-

field was outside (R831). Reynolds said to ignore him and go back to sleep (831-2).

Brooks fell back asleep; but awoke to find Ernest Whitfield on top of her, holding a knife to her neck (R832-3). He told her to pull off her clothes and threatened to stab her and her infant child if she screamed (R833). Brooks noted that Whitfield's eyes were unusually big, and that he was talking faster than normal (R862). She lay motionless, while Whitfield vaginally raped her (R834-5). Then, Whitfield left her room and went into Reynolds' bedroom (R835-6).

About ten minutes later, the witness heard Claretha Reynolds screaming as she ran into Brooks' bedroom (R836-8). She said that Whitfield had stabbed her; and asked Brooks to call the police (R837). Brooks climbed out the window and ran to a neighbor's house (R839-40). The police arrived about five minutes later (R840).

Peggy LaRue testified that she, Mae Brooks and Estella
Pierre are sisters (R920-1). She also knew Ernest Whitfield
because of his relationship with Estella Pierre (R921). Around
seven o'clock in the morning on June 19, Whitfield banged on the
door of her house (R921-2). She opened the door and hesitated to
let him in because "he just looked weird" (R923). Once inside,
Whitfield sat down and said, "I just killed big girl" (R923).
The witness didn't believe him, but Whitfield repeated that he

 $<sup>^1</sup>Claretha$  Reynolds' nickname was "big girl" (R840). According to the medical examiner, she was 5'10" and weighed 284 pounds (R1109).

stabbed her eighteen  $times^2$  and demonstrated how he did it (R924-5).

Whitfield further explained that he was upset because Estella had not brought her children to see him the previous day, which was Father's Day (R925). Whitfield told the witness that when he started talking to Claretha Reynolds about Estella, Reynolds responded, "I don't want to hear it", and pushed him (R926, 939). At that point, Whitfield began stabbing Reynolds (R926, 939).

LaRue testified that Whitfield appeared to be high on drugs (R937-8, 947). His eyes were big and his speech was "real hyper" (R937). The witness had previously seen Whitfield when he had been using drugs and observed similar changes in his appearance and speech (R938).

Whitfield then asked LaRue to drive him to several locations (R927-9). After she dropped him off, she drove toward Reynolds' residence (R931). When she saw the police, she led them back to where she had left Whitfield (R931-2, 944).

Police officer Dale Waugh testified that he went to the duplex pointed out by LaRue (R900). Police officers surrounded the duplex around 9:00 a.m. (R900). He was behind the building when he saw Appellant come up to him (R900-1). Whitfield said, "Here I am. I give up" (R901).

 $<sup>^2{</sup>m The}$  medical examiner found twenty-one cuts and stab wounds on the body (R1112) .

All officers at the scene agreed that Whitfield was cooperative (R889, 903-5, 917). After receiving Miranda warnings, Whitfield admitted stabbing Reynolds but did not acknowledge any sexual battery (R891-3, 908). He agreed to show the officers where he had thrown the knife he used in the stabbing (R879-80, 902, 913). He directed the officers to a house and said that he had thrown the knife on its roof (R880, 902). Officer Lyons climbed on the roof and located the knife (R881, 913-4). At trial, Mae Brooks identified the knife as one that had been in the victim's residence (844-5).

Whitfield also told the officers some of the circumstances leading up to the stabbing. He said that he was depressed because someone wouldn't let him see his stepchildren on Father's Day (R903, 906, 918). He said that he had smoked \$500 worth of crack cocaine during the previous night (R893-5, 903, 907). However, the arresting officers testified that Whitfield didn't appear to be under the influence of cocaine when they encountered him (R896, 903).

To support the burglary charge, the State adduced evidence that a bathroom window was the likely point of entry to the Dixie Avenue residence (R1010). A large garbage can was found directly below the window and the screen had been unlocked (R1010). A latent fingerprint was lifted from the bathtub located directly inside the window (R952-3). An expert in fingerprint comparison testified that she compared the known prints of Whitfield to the

submitted latent (R962-3). She gave her opinion that the print on the bathtub was made by Appellant's left palm.

Shoeprints were collected from outside the residence and the bathtub as well (R951, 966-72, 1002-3, 1010-1), Whitfield's sandals were also seized (R1008-9). An expert in shoeprint comparisons testified that he could not make a positive identification between the prints and Whitfield's shoes (1064, 1066). However, there were similar characteristics between Whitfield's shoes and the prints such as size and tread design (R1064-5, 1068). The witness did not detect any dissimilarities between the prints and the submitted shoes (R1069).

To corroborate the testimony of Mae Brooks about the sexual battery accusation, the State called Carrie Weeks as a witness (R866-70). When Brooks fled from the Dixie Avenue residence on the morning of June 19, she knocked on her neighbor, Weeks', door (R839-40, 868). In addition to reporting the stabbing of Reynolds, Brooks told Weeks that Whitfield had raped her (R868). Weeks called the police to report the incident (R869).

Brooks was examined at the Emergency Room of Sarasota Memorial Hospital shortly afterwards (R1013, 1027, 1040-1). Dr. Kruglick performed a pelvic exam and found erythema, which could indicate recent sexual intercourse (R1033). He didn't observe any physical trauma, only emotional trauma (R1035-6).

Further tests were performed on the clothing Brooks was wearing (R1016, 1086-7). A "rape kit" was collected (R1032-3, 1042-5). At trial, a serologist testified that Brooks was

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