IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE JAN 28 1997

CLERK, SUPPENE COURT By\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 86,775

ERNEST WHITFIELD,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_ /

# ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

ISSUE II. The lower court did not err in allowing the prior incident at the victim's house to be admitted into evidence as the threat to kill the victim two weeks prior to the completed homicide was relevant to the issue of his premeditated intent. See <u>Pittman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 646 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1994).

ISSUE III. Appellant's complaint regarding the prosecutor's closing argument about sentences received on prior convictions was not preserved for appellate review by contemporaneous objection below and did not constitute fundamental error, and alternatively, was harmless. Appellant's current argument that witnesses Sutton and Connor were providing hearsay testimony about threats to kill made in prior crimes was not the basis urged below and hence not preserved. This Court has approved the use of such hearsay in penalty phase. Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1989).

The prosecutor did not err in cross-examining defense witness Dr. Regnier since the Baker Act commitment helped explain the depression the witness referred to on direct examination. A prosecutor may cross-examine an expert on the facts he used or considered in forming an opinion. P<u>arker v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985).

The lower court did not err reversibly in permitting **cross**examination of defense witness Detective Hinesley about appellant's statement of alleged remorse and even if error it was harmless. <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 562 **So.2d** 331 (**Fla.** 1990).

Appellant's claim for relief on the basis of an improper 'Golden Rule" violation must fail as the singular remark was not egregious enough to warrant vacating the sentence, especially since upon the defense objection the prosecutor rephrased his comments to apply the facts of the case to the statutory HAC aggravator.

Appellant's complaint that the prosecutor's argument made an improper appeal to gender was not preserved by objection below and is meritless since the argument was in support of the statutory aggravating factors present.

ISSUE IV. The trial court correctly answered the jury's question by reference to the standard instruction -- a procedure the defense agreed to -- and it would have been speculative for the court to guess at whether there was **a** guarantee appellant would never return to society.

ISSUE V. The lower court did not err in its treatment in the sentencing order of the mental or emotional disturbance mitigating factor or the impaired capacity to conform conduct to the requirements of law mitigator. The defense expert's view was not shared by the state rebuttal expert and the facts of the case compelled rejection of the defense view.

The lower court did not err in giving great weight to the recommendation of the jury.

### ARGUMENT

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

## WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE DEFENDANT TO LEAVE THE COURTROOM DURING JURY SELECTION.

To fully appreciate this issue, the Court must note Mr. Whitfield's persistent intransigence below. Voir dire examination began on September 18, 1995 (R 151). On the second day of jury selection, September 19, Mr. Whitfield announced to the court that he was having conflict with his attorneys (R 470). The trial court attempted to make a <u>Nelson</u> inquiry<sup>2</sup> (R 474). Whitfield complained of counsels' "negativity" (R 474). Trial counsel Mr. Williams stated that he had explained to Whitfield that it took time to get things done and that Whitfield had been insistent on asserting his speedy trial rights (R 475-476). Co-counsel Scott explained that their client did not want them to prepare for penalty phase (R 478). The court asked Whitfield specifically what he wanted done that was not done (R 483). Whitfield complained that his lawyers told him that he did not have a chance (R 484). When the court informed appellant that he would have to conduct an inquiry before

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Nelson v State, 274 So.2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

discharging counsel, appellant responded: ". , , take me back to my cell. I don't want to stay here" and "I'm not going to stay here" (R 486).

The court again attempted to inquire whether Whitfield had a basis to discharge counsel and appellant responded that they were unwilling to fight for him (R 486-487). Trial counsel Williams responded that he would always fight for his client and would represent him zealously within the bounds of the law; counsel added that the death penalty was a strong possibility but that he was prepared to proceed to trial (R 487-488). Whitfield said he felt "hostility" (R 488). When the court again attempted a Nelson inquiry, appellant refused to answer (R 491). Trial counsel Williams stated that he was prepared to go to trial (R 492). Whitfield continued to refuse to respond and the court did not discharge counsel (R 493-494). When the court suggested that appellant talk to his lawyer, there was more silence (R 495). Whitfield continued to refuse to respond (R 496).

Twenty pages later in the transcript, defense counsel noted that Mr. Whitfield was not facing the jury and it was obvious he was going to choose not to participate in the proceedings and counsel suggested an inquiry into competency. The court noted that

appellant was refusing to cooperate and trial defense counsel Scott added that Whitfield, in contrast to the previous day, was not assisting in the jury selection process (R 523).

Voir dire continued with appellant present (R 523-581). When the defense suggested a competency evaluation by their expert Dr. Regnier, the court agreed but observed that Whitfield could communicate when he chose to do so and that he was choosing to turn his back (R 583-584).

Defense expert Dr. Regnier examined appellant for one half hour. The court again attempted to make inquiry of Whitfield who still refused to speak and remained mute (R 592-593).

Appellant stated that he would not participate, would not come from the jail and would not do anything if he was going to be 'downgraded (R 597). Defense counsel responded to the complaints asserted by Whitfield (R 600-603) .

Dr. Regnier suggested there may be a communication problem and offered to mediate by talking with Whitfield and counsel (R 613). After a recess, Whitfield informed the court he was going through "depressed stress" and had a headache (R 615, 618). After a

<u>Faretta</u><sup>3</sup> i r y , the court concluded that Whitfield was not able to represent himself and appellant requested to be taken back to his cell "because I don't want to be present" (R 620). When the court offered the option of staying and listening in court, Whitfield maintained:

> "I don't want to, Your Honor. I would like to go back to my cell. They can go on without me. (R 620)

He thought he would be incriminating himself to be in a place and position he did not want to be in. The court offered to provide a telephone line with counsel and Whitfield insisted:

> "I don't want to have any communication with it. I just want to get back to my cell where I was."

> > (R 621)

He claimed that he would not listen if kept in the courtroom (R 621).

Dr. Regnier then testified that Whitfield was competent to proceed, that he was free of any mental defect or illness and was completely cognizant of his actions and what he is doing in the courtroom. He appreciated the charges against him, the ranges and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975).

nature of possible penalties "with glaring detail", the adversary nature of legal process, had the ability to disclose to his counsel pertinent facts (but voluntarily chose not to), had the ability to manifest appropriate courtroom behavior and the ability to testify relevantly on his own behalf if he chose to (R 624-625) . The defense withdrew the suggestion of incompetency (R 626). Defense counsel joined in Whitfield's request to return to his cell and that the jury be instructed that he had voluntarily absented himself from jury selection. Counsel argued that his continued presence would be more prejudicial with the jury (R 626). When appellant did not accept the court's offer to stay the court permitted him to go back to his cell. Whitfield announced that he was not coming back (R 627). The court explained to prospective jurors that Whitfield voluntarily absented himself (R 629).

Voir dire proceeded **and a** jury was selected (R 713) .<sup>4</sup> On the following day, September 20, the court met with Whitfield at the county jail to urge his presence at trial and appellant declined (R 736-737). Subsequently, in court both the attorneys and the court stated on the record the facts of what had happened (R 737-744).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The court continued the effort, requesting counsel again to confer with appellant renewing the offer to be present (R 655-656).

Appellant returned to court on the afternoon of September 20 (R 817) and apologized to the court for his absence that morning (R 865).

Appellant **acknowledges** that this Court **has** held that a defendant **may** waive his presence in a capital proceeding. <u>Peede v.</u> <u>State</u>, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 477 U.S. 909, 91 L.Ed.2d 575 (1986); <u>Kilsore v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, Florida Law Weekly **S345 (1996)**; <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 1996).<sup>5</sup> If the instant record demonstrates anything it is that the trial court with seemingly infinite patience attempted to question the appellant repeatedly concerning the appropriateness of keeping or discharging the two trial defense attorneys with the result that appellant refused to respond to the court's inquiries. In addition to the trial court's stated observations on appellant's refusal to respond, trial counsel called attention to the fact that Whitfield had turned his **back** on the jury and was not going to choose to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Appellant is not aided by his cited cases of <u>Proffitt\_v\_</u> <u>Wainwrisht</u>, 706 F.2d 311 (11th Cir. 1983) and <u>Hall v. Wainwright</u>, 733 F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984). In the former, the Court declined to reach the question of whether presence was waivable since the defendant unquestionably did not waive; in the latter, it was determined the defendant was absent during a non-critical stage and was harmless error. <u>Hall v. Wainwrisht</u>, 805 F.2d 945 (11th Cir. 1986).

participate in the proceedings; he was not assisting in jury selection in contrast to the previous court day (R 523). Whitfield insisted that he would not participate, would not come from the jail and would not do anything (R 597). He repeatedly asserted the desire to go back to his cell (R 620, 621) and that he would not listen if he were kept in the courtroom (R 621). Additionally, a mental competency evaluation was performed contemporaneously and defense expert Regnier testified that Whitfield was competent to proceed and was cognizant of what he was doing in the courtroom and knew the nature of the charges and possible penalties "with glaring detail" (R 624-625). Defense counsel then joined in appellant's request that Whitfield be returned to his cell because his continued presence would be more prejudicial to the jury (R 626). Appellant insisted that he would not return to court when allowed to leave the courtroom (R 627). Appellant even refused the lower court's extraordinary offer on the following morning at the jail urging that he be present in the court for trial (R 736-737). In supra, this Court concluded that defendant's "angry Kilsore, comments and reactions indicate that he was fully aware of the proceedings" 21 Florida Law Weekly S345, 346 and "the instant facts show that Kilgore requested to waive his right to be present" Id.

at 347.

The Court should reject appellant's assertion of the right to manipulate the legal system for his own whimsical purposes. See <u>Jones v. State</u>, 449 So.2d 253, 259 (Fla. 1994); Waterhouse v. <u>State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008, 1014 (Fla. 1992).<sup>6</sup>

Appellant may obtain no relief under <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), since <u>Coney</u> was overruled in <u>Bovett v. State</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d . 21 Florida Law Weekly S535 (1996).

The law does not <sup>--</sup> and should not -- require more than that provided to Whitfield below. *Lex non praecipit inutilia, qui inutilis* labor *stultis.*<sup>7</sup> Cf. <u>Valdes v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1316, 1320-1321 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Appellant points out that he complained prior to the penalty phase that he had been absent during jury selection, that a number of women had been selected and that he did not have the last or final word., The trial court reminded Whitfield that he had chosen to be absent in spite of the court's urging (R 1455). Whitfield is mistaken in thinking that he has the last word. Cf. <u>Curtis V.</u> State, **21** Florida Law Weekly S442. Moreover, any attempt by appellant to excuse all women, based on gender, peremptorily would have been violative of <u>J.E.B. v. Alabama ex re] T.R.</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994); <u>Abshire v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1994).

<sup>&</sup>quot;"The law commands not useless things because useless labor is foolish."

### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE PRIOR INCIDENT AT THE VICTIM'S HOUSE TO COME INTO EVIDENCE.

On a proffer witness Willie Mae Brooks testified that about two weeks prior to the instant homicide appellant unsuccessfully sought money from her, victim Claretha Reynolds and Estella Pierre at the victim's residence (R 801-806). When rebuffed, he told Claretha within her earshot:

" . . Fuck you . . . I'm going to kill all three of you all, make sure you all don't have no more fun."

(**R** 806)

The trial court permitted the evidence (R 807) and the witness testified in front of the jury (R 822-826). Appellant argues that "it is clear that the participants in the incident did not view it seriously" (Brief, p. 34). That is not exactly so. Testifying witness Willie Mae Brooks stated on redirect examination that she was afraid:

"BY MR. MORELAND:

Q. Ms. Mae, when you described this incident earlier between **Claretha** and the defendant Ernest Whitfield, she forced him out of the house; is that correct?

A. Yes, she did.

Q. However she did, she forced him out of the house, he didn't want to go?

A. He didn't want to go.

Q. And he was angry about that; wasn't

he?

A. Yes, he was.

Q. And he didn't say, I'll hurt you, he said, I'll kill you; didn't he?

A. I'll kill you.

Q. Now Claretha Reynolds may not have been afraid, but were you afraid of Ernest-Whitfield?

A. Y<u>es, I was.</u>

Q. Is that why you didn't let Ernest Whitfield in the house that night?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And the night that this rape occurred, he had that knife to your throat, were you afraid then?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. He didn't say anything to you about money or cocaine or anything about that?

A. He asked me did I have any money. I told him he can check my purse, I do not have any money.

Q. He didn't get any?

A. He didn't get any."

(emphasis supplied) (R 863-864)

Whitfield apparently takes comfort that the witness stated that murder victim Claretha Reynolds was not afraid.<sup>8</sup>

Contrary to appellant's complaint the incident was not offered to show merely prior bad acts but to help establish the premeditated element in the charged offense of first degree murder. In any event, it is of no moment whether the victim was afraid since the victim's state of mind is not an issue in a homicide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Subsequent events conclusively demonstrate that she should have been!

prosecution. The instant case wherein Whitfield threatened to kill the victim and two others a mere two weeks prior to the slaying of **Claretha** Reynolds is appropriate evidence supporting the thesis that he did in fact do so with the requisite premeditated intent. The case is not unlike <u>Pittman v. State</u>, 646 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1994), wherein this Court found no error in the admission of evidence that the defendant had made several threats against his ex-wife and her family months prior to the double killing.<sup>9</sup>

Appellant acknowledges at page 35 of his brief that the prior threat to kill "could not have affected the jury's verdict in the guilt or innocence phase of this trial" (probably a wise concession since Willie Mae Brooks had testified appellant raped her at knife point then went into the victim's bedroom, victim Claretha Reynolds said Whitfield had stabbed her before she expired, appellant admitted stabbing and killing Claretha to Peggy LaRue, admitted to police after <u>Miranda</u> warnings to stabbing the victim and agreed to take them to the place where he had discarded the murder weapon,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Appellant's reliance on <u>Pope v. State</u>, So.2d , 21 Florida Law Weekly S257 (Fla. 1996) is misplaced. There the Court found harmless error in the admission of evidence that Pope had committed a battery on the victim months prior to the murder since the jury was not told of his ensuing arrest and incarceration which allegedly provided the vengeance motive for the killing. Thus, the isolated fact of the battery was irrelevant.

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